RECEIVED
JUL 19 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001845

WFG National Title Insurance CompanyRespondent,

v.

DataQuick Lending Solutions, Inc. and DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

William M. Wilson III (S.C. Bar Id. No. 15808)
Wyche, P.A.
Post Office Box 728
Greenville, S.C. 29602-0728
(864) 242-8200

Attorneys for Appellants

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

By this appeal, Appellant DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC,¹ a Delaware limited liability company (“DataQuick”), challenges a 2016 entry of default and a 2017 default judgment in favor of Respondent WFG National Title Insurance Company (“WFG”) for nearly \$4 million in unliquidated damages entered without a damages hearing and without the knowledge of DataQuick. WFG, a South Carolina title insurer, brought suit in 2016 against DataQuick, WFG’s former agent, even though DataQuick had ceased doing business in early 2014. DataQuick had no actual notice of the lawsuit until October 2017, when it learned of an order granting WFG’s motion for entry of default judgment. Within 10 days of receiving notice, DataQuick moved to set aside the default, to vacate the default judgment, and for other relief. The trial judge denied all relief. The issues presented here are:

1. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to set aside the entry of default despite uncontroverted evidence of excusable neglect, prompt action following actual notice of suit, several meritorious defenses, and lack of prejudice to the plaintiff?
2. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to grant relief from a default judgment awarding unliquidated damages without a hearing (or notice of same) and without evidence or any independent inquiry?
3. In a contract action between two sophisticated corporations, did the trial court abuse its discretion when it failed to set aside a default judgment that included treble damages under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act without any allegation or evidence supporting a public impact or a willful or knowing violation of that statute?

¹ As noted in the Statement of the Case, the suit named both DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC and DataQuick Lending Solutions, Inc. as defendants, but these entities are one in the same because the corporate form was converted from a corporation to a limited liability company on December 23, 2014. (LaGatta Aff. ¶ 3) (R. p. 82). The nominal defendants are collectively referenced herein as “DataQuick” and/or “Appellant.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WFG filed this suit in Richland County on August 5, 2016, alleging that DataQuick as underwriting agent breached its Agency Agreement with WFG by improperly performing underwriting obligations with respect to unspecified “real estate located in various states throughout the United States of America,” and damaging WFG in the form of unspecified “loss, expense, charges, attorney’s fees, allocated loss adjustment expenses and other damages,” which were not calculated but asserted to be “in excess of \$25,000.” (Compl. pp. 2-3) (R. pp. 25-26).² The Complaint also attached a list of 47 purported internal claim numbers with no associated dollar amounts or other details. (Compl. Ex. A) (R. p. 32).

WFG caused CT Corporation (DataQuick’s then-statutory agent) to be served with the Summons and Complaint on August 10, 2016, for DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC, (Affidavit of Service) (R. p. 114), and on August 11, 2016 for DataQuick Lending Solutions, Inc., (Affidavit of Service) (R. p. 115). WFG applied for, and the trial court entered, DataQuick’s default in October 2016. (Order of Entry of Default) (R. p. 2).

Eleven months later, on September 15, 2017, WFG filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Default Judgment with Attorney’s Fees along with exhibits including an Affidavit as to Attorney’s Fees, an Affidavit of Amount Due, a proposed order for a default judgment, and a proposed Form 4. (Mot. Default J) (R. pp. 58-73). That same day, WFG purported to serve DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC by regular U.S. Mail to Maples Fiduciary Services (Delaware) Inc. (“Maples”) in Delaware as well as by regular mail to CT Corporation in Delaware. (Certificate of Service) (R. p. 73). WFG also purported to serve DataQuick Lending

² Based on the same conduct, WFG alleged five causes of action including negligence and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. (Compl. pp. 2-6) (R. pp. 25-29).

Solutions, Inc. by regular mail through CT Corporation in South Carolina. (Certificate of Service) (R. p. 73).

On September 19, 2017, only four days after WFG filed its motion and without any hearing, the trial court signed the proposed order submitted by WFG without modification, and entered a default judgment in the amount of \$3,912,550.47. (Order for Default Judgment) (R. pp. 6-10). This judgment amount consisted of \$1,304,183.49 in damages, including costs and attorneys' fees, which the trial court trebled under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act to \$3,912,550.47. (Order p. 2) (R. p. 9).

WFG served the Order for Default Judgment on DataQuick's statutory agent (Certificate of Service) (R. pp. 130-35), and on October 12, 2017, DataQuick served a Motion for New Trial, to Alter or Amend Judgment, and for Relief from Judgment on the grounds that it first received actual notice of the lawsuit ten days earlier, on October 2, 2017. (Mot. for Relief from Judgment) (R. pp. 74-85).

Ten months later, on August 21, 2018, the trial court heard DataQuick's Motion. (Tr. p. 1) (R. p. 33). Both parties submitted a supporting memorandum and affidavit. (Mem. Supp. Mot.; Opp'n Mem.; Fliss Aff.; Walker Aff.) (R. pp. 86-113, 124-129). The trial court received proposed orders from each of the parties, (Emails Submitting Proposed Orders) (R. pp. 140-71), and on September 19, 2018, the trial court denied DataQuick's Motion and signed the proposed order submitted by WFG without revision, (Order Denying Motion for Relief from Judgment) (R. pp. 11-20, 147-56). DataQuick timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal on October 12, 2018. (Notice of Appeal) (R. pp. 172-189).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

DataQuick never received the Summons and Complaint from CT Corporation because it had ceased business operations in 2014 (two and a half years earlier, following the sale of all of its assets), no longer had employees, and inadvertently failed to update its address with CT Corporation. (LaGatta Aff. ¶ 5; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 4, 6, 9, 12, 13) (R. pp. 82, 124-125). Thus, CT Corporation forwarded the Summons and Complaint to old notice addresses that no longer belonged to DataQuick.³ (LaGatta Aff. ¶ 10; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 12-18) (R. pp. 83, 125). On October 10, 2016, WFG purported to serve CT Corporation as registered agent for DataQuick with a non-notarized Affidavit of Default and with a proposed Order of Entry of Default by regular mail with the U.S. Postal Service. (Certificate of Service) (R. pp. 4-5, 116-17). DataQuick did not receive the affidavit or proposed order because CT Corporation again sent the filing to the old addresses. (LaGatta Aff. ¶ 10; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 12-18) (R. pp. 83, 125). On October 19, 2016, a judge signed the proposed order, and both the signed Order of Entry of Default and affidavit were filed on October 27, 2016. (Order of Entry of Default; Affidavit of Default) (R. pp. 2, 116). The record reflects no attempt by WFG to serve DataQuick with the Order of Entry of Default after it was entered.

After obtaining the entry of default, WFG did nothing for eleven months at which time it filed a motion for a default judgment. (Mot. Default J. and Motion Coversheet) (R. pp. 58-73). The Coversheet form represented that no hearing was needed, (Motion Coversheet) (R. p. 58),

³ CT Corporation's contact information for DataQuick included (1) James Keglovits, a former agent of DataQuick, at an email domain that no longer was in use; and (2) Floricia Orozco, an employee of an accounting firm, HCVT, that was involved in DataQuick's 2014 sale of assets to Stewart Title. (Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 14-18) (R. p. 125). When reached by DataQuick to determine what had happened with any notices sent through CT Corporation to Ms. Orozco, HCVT informed DataQuick that she was no longer employed by the accounting firm and could not determine what, if anything, happened to the notices CT had sent to her email account. (Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 14, 17-18) (R. p. 125).

and the three-page motion falsely asserted that there were “liquidated” damages of \$1,299,888.99, plus costs and attorneys’ fees of \$4,294.50, (Mot. Default J. p. 2) (R. p. 2). However, neither the Complaint nor the Motion for Default Judgment—nor the Affidavit of Amount Due—contained any calculation of damages or any data, documents, or information from which a calculation of damages could be made or assessed by a court. (Compl.; Mot. Default J.; Aff. Amount Due) (R. pp. 24-32, 59-61, 65-66). The Affidavit of Amount Due was given by WFG’s “National Claims Counsel” and asserted a total lump sum amount of damages based upon the averment that he “was familiar with the forty-seven claim accounts enumerated in Exhibit A of the Complaint, including the liquidated amounts due thereunder.” (Aff. Amount Due ¶ 2) (R. p. 65). The referenced Exhibit A of the Complaint contained only a list of internal claim numbers with no supporting data, dollar amounts, or other information. (Compl. Ex. A) (R. pp. 31-32). The Agency Agreement was not attached to the Complaint, and none of the relevant provisions were quoted. (Compl.) (R. pp. 24-32). The Complaint did not allege any specific amount of damages, (*id.*) (R. pp. 24-32), and the record lacks any information concerning the calculation of damages. As such, there was no support for WFG’s representation to the trial court that the damages it claimed were liquidated.

The motion also asserted, without citation to any statute or case authority, that “Plaintiff is entitled to treble damages . . . for Defendants’ violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act.” (Mot. Default J. p. 2) (R. p. 60). Neither the Complaint nor the Motion for Default Judgment described any evidence of, or made any factual allegation respecting, a “willful” or “knowing” violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (Compl.; Mot. Default J.) (R. pp. 24-32, 59-61). Neither included any basis entitling WFG to trebled damages. (Compl.; Mot. Default J.) (R. pp. 24-32, 59-61). The motion also sought attorneys’ fees, (Mot. Default J.)

(R. p. 60), thereby triggering SCRCP 55(b)(3), which requires a damages hearing under Rule 55(b)(2) unless “no objection is filed by the opposing party within 10 days of service of such motion and affidavit.”

Despite the lack of any basis for an award of liquidated damages; the absence of any allegation, evidence, or finding supporting an award of treble damages; and the fact that the ten-day objection period of Rule 55(b)(3) had not passed, the trial court granted the motion four days after it was filed and entered a judgment against DataQuick in an amount close to \$4 million that not only included trebled damages but also included attorneys’ fees (also trebled). (Order for Default Judgment) (R. pp. 8-10).

On October 2, 2017, WFG filed a Certificate of Service indicating that on September 27, 2017, it forwarded the Order entering default judgment to Maples and CT Corporation by regular mail. (Certificate of Service) (R. p. 130). This time, DataQuick’s new agent for service of process in Delaware, Maples, did forward the order entering a default judgment to DataQuick, providing DataQuick with its first actual notice of the lawsuit on October 2, 2017. (LaGatta Aff. ¶¶ 8-10; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 19-25) (R. pp. 82-83, 125-126).⁴ Ten days later, on October 12, 2017, DataQuick served a Motion for New Trial, to Alter or Amend Judgment, and for Relief from Judgment. (Fliss. Aff. ¶ 26; Mot. for Relief from Judgment) (R. pp. 74-85, 126).

⁴ Although during wind-down DataQuick had changed registered agents in Delaware (but not South Carolina) from CT Corporation to Maples (and provided correct contact information to Maples), DataQuick did not receive any document from Maples or CT Corporation until Maples forwarded the order entering default judgment on October 2, 2017. (LaGatta Aff. ¶¶ 4-10; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 11-25) (R. pp. 82-83, 125-126). Maples acknowledged to DataQuick that it received the Motion for Default Judgment on September 18, 2017, and further acknowledged that it has no record of sending it to DataQuick. (Fliss Aff. ¶ 21) (R. p. 125).

Through no fault of DataQuick, the trial court delayed a hearing on DataQuick's motion for 10 months until August 21, 2018. (Tr. p. 1) (R. p. 33).⁵ DataQuick filed a memorandum and affidavit in support of its motion over a month in advance of the hearing, (Mem. Supp. Mot.; Fliss Aff.) (R. pp. 86-102, 124-127), whereas WFG waited until one hour before the hearing to file its memorandum and affidavit, which it had not served, (Opp'n Mem.; Walker Aff.) (R. pp. 103-113, 128-29).

At the hearing, the trial judge immediately demonstrated his tenuous grasp of the record by stating that DataQuick filed a motion four days after an entry of default. (Tr. p. 4) (R. p. 36). As counsel attempted to clarify that the motion was made ten days following receipt of notice of a default judgment, the trial judge interrupted to ask whether DataQuick could count to thirty, again demonstrating an incorrect understanding of the facts and issues—as DataQuick's affidavits had made clear that it lacked actual notice of the suit until after the default judgment already had been entered. (Tr. p. 4; Fliss Aff. ¶¶ 11-24; LaGatta Aff. ¶¶ 4-9) (R. pp. 36, 82-83, 125-126).

The trial court then acknowledged that it had not conducted any inquiry into WFG's representation that its damages were "liquidated" or the conclusory representations of its "National Claims Counsel" regarding the claims, records, or valuations underlying them. (Tr. p. 13 ll. 11-13) ("That's why I signed the order. They said it was liquidated. I don't know if it was or not. That's what the order said.") (R. p. 45). The court simply signed the proposed order for default judgment drafted by WFG's counsel without modification or analysis. (*Id.*, Proposed Order for Default Judgment; Order for Default Judgment) (R. pp. 8-10, 45, 68-70). Despite

⁵ The hearing initially was scheduled in July 2018, (R. pp. 141-45), and DataQuick gave notice of the hearing, including Judge Manning's requirement to submit a memorandum "as soon as possible" prior to the hearing, (Notice of Hearing) (R. pp. 138-39, 141-45).

uncontroverted evidence that the default judgment was invalid because it was entered for an unliquidated amount without a hearing, the trial judge again signed WFG's proposed order denying DataQuick's motion for relief without a single revision. (Proposed Order Denying 60(b) Motion; Order Denying 60(b) Motion) (R. pp. 11-20, 147-156). This was so even though WFG conceded at the hearing that the trial court entered the order without waiting for the mandatory ten-day objection period to run. (Tr. p. 21) (R. p. 53). The trial court's only response was: "I hope that nobody holds the court responsible for being efficient." (*Id.*) (R. p. 53). The trial court ultimately cut off DataQuick's counsel mid-sentence and concluded the hearing by requesting proposed orders. (Tr. pp. 23-24) (R. pp. 55-56).

As demonstrated by its statements at the hearing, by its wholesale adoption of a faulty proposed order lacking evidentiary support and controlled by errors of law, and by its failure to evaluate the factual basis for the relief sought or address the relevant legal standards, the trial court abused its discretion and must be reversed on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's failures to set aside the entry of default and to grant relief from the default judgment are both reviewed for abuse of discretion. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the order was controlled by an error of law or when the order is without evidentiary support." *Stark Truss Co. v. Superior Const. Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 508, 602 S.E.2d 99, 101-02 (Ct. App. 2004). "Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this [c]ourt reviews questions of law de novo." *South Carolina Lawyers Weekly ex rel. Dolan Pub. Co. v. Wilson*, 423 S.C. 144, 148, 813 S.E.2d 527, 529 (Ct. App. 2018) (alteration in original; quoting *Lambries v. Saluda Cty. Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 7, 860 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014)).

“It is an equal abuse of discretion to refuse to exercise discretionary authority when it is warranted as it is to exercise the discretion improperly.” *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981); *CEL Prods., LLC v. Rozelle*, 357 S.C. 125, 130, 591 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2004) (“When a trial judge is vested with discretion but his ruling reveals no discretion was in fact exercised, an error of law has occurred.”); *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216-17 (Ct. App. 1997) (“This decision in and of itself does not show the judge exercised discretion, especially where the Supreme Court has articulated the legal analysis which should be utilized.” (citing *Smith*, 276 S.C. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 202 (“[T]he mere recital of the discretionary decision is not sufficient to bring into operation a determination that discretion was exercised. It should be stated on what basis that discretion was exercised.”))).

ARGUMENT

There is no contention—let alone evidence—that DataQuick was actually aware of this litigation and either deliberately or negligently failed to act. Indeed, the record is plain that DataQuick first received actual notice of the lawsuit in October 2017 and served detailed papers within 10 days explaining what had transpired and seeking relief. In the first quarter of 2014—nearly two and a half years before this suit was filed—DataQuick had sold its assets to a different company (Stewart Title) after which DataQuick ceased doing business while its affairs were wound up and it had no employees.⁶ The DataQuick employee who had been the contact for CT Corporation was no longer employed by DataQuick (nor was anyone else), and DataQuick neglected to designate a successor during its wind-down period. Thus, when this action was filed in the latter half of 2016, CT Corporation sent the Summons and Complaint to

⁶ As shown in the court below, once DataQuick’s assets had been sold in March 2014, it ceased doing business. Because DataQuick had no employees after the asset sale, it submitted affidavits from attorneys employed by a corporate parent whose affiliate owns DataQuick. (Fliss Aff. ¶ 2) (R. p. 124).

the former employee who was not there to receive it. DataQuick acknowledged below that this oversight—though inadvertent—was a form of neglect. But under the circumstances, and consistent with applicable law, DataQuick had a right to have the trial court carefully consider whether that neglect was excusable. The record amply demonstrates that the trial judge displayed impatience rather than careful discretion. At the very beginning of the hearing below he asked DataQuick’s counsel: “Let me ask you this. Your client have trouble counting to thirty?” (Tr. p. 4 ll. 12-13) (R. p. 36). When DataQuick’s counsel attempted to respond, the Court cut him off: “MR. WILSON: Your Honor, our client --- THE COURT: This is the question. Does your client have trouble counting up to thirty?” (*Id.* ll. 15-16) (R. p. 36).

That, of course, was not the pertinent question; DataQuick’s “neglect” was undisputed. The central issue—never addressed by the trial court—was whether, following its cessation of business operations, DataQuick’s inadvertent failure to appoint someone new as a point of contact for CT was *excusable*. DataQuick’s counsel respectfully tried to refocus the court despite the judge’s staccato interjections. Finally, the court assured DataQuick’s counsel he would allow him to proceed: “I’ll let you finish. Go ahead.” (Tr. p. 5 l. 23) (R. p. 37). Yet when DataQuick’s counsel attempted to discuss pertinent case authority that had been cited in the DataQuick brief, the trial court continued to interject with questions that suggested the court was unfamiliar with DataQuick’s brief, and the cases therein cited. (*E.g.*, Tr. p. 7 ll. 3-8 (“And there is case law that says that --- THE COURT: What case law? Name two cases. MR. WILSON: Yes, Your Honor. THE COURT: Do you cite it in your memo? MR. WILSON: Yes, sir, they’re cited in the memo. THE COURT: All right.”)) (R. p. 39).

When DataQuick’s counsel sought to explain that even if the original default were not set aside, at minimum an evidentiary hearing was required to liquidate the claimed damages, the

court again interrupted: “THE COURT: That’s why I signed the order [of default judgment]. They [WFG] said it was liquidated. *I don’t know if it was or not.* That’s what the order said.” (Tr. p. 13 ll. 11-13 (emphasis added)) (R. p. 45). The trial court thus acknowledged that it failed to even evaluate the veracity of WFG’s unsupported (and false) assertion that the damages were liquidated—much less independently assess whether the calculation was appropriate or whether trebling was warranted under applicable law. Rather than actually exercise its discretion, the court simply signed WFG’s order without carrying out its judicial role.

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