THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable L. Casey Manning
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-04718

Appellate Case No. 2018-001845

RECEIVED

JUL 24 2019

SC Court of Appeals

WFG National Title Insurance Company,

Respondent,

v.

DataQuick Lending Solutions, Inc. and DataQuick Lending Solutions, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Shaun C. Blake (S.C. Bar No. 76349)
Drew B. Walker (S.C. Bar No. 78271)
ROGERS LEWIS JACKSON MANN & QUINN, LLC
PO Box 11803
Columbia, SC 29211
P: 803-256-1268
F: 803-252-3653
sblake@rogerslewis.com
dwalker@rogerslewis.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

2. DataQuick's failure to make a prima facie showing of any meritorious defense confirms that Judge Manning properly exercised his discretion in denying DataQuick's belated request for relief from default.

While it is not necessary for the court to reach this issue in order to affirm Judge Manning's denial of DataQuick's request for relief under Rule 60(b), SCRPC, *see, e.g., ITC Commercial Funding, LLC*, 393 S.C. at 496, 713 S.E.2d at 340, the record nevertheless demonstrates that

DataQuick also failed to meet its burden to establish a meritorious defense. “[O]ur courts have held that in order to obtain relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b)(1) or 60(b)(3), not only must the movant make a proper showing he is entitled to relief based upon one of the specified grounds, he must also make a prima facie showing of a meritorious defense.” McClurg v. Deaton, 380 S.C. 563, 574, 671 S.E.2d 87, 93 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011).

- a. **A conclusory paragraph by DataQuick’s in-house counsel in an affidavit replete with caveats and assumptions, supported by no other evidence, does not amount to material evidence and a prima facie showing of a meritorious defense.**

The Affidavit of Michael LaGatta, Esq. dated October 12, 2017, which was the affidavit included in the motion for relief filed by DataQuick, contained no reference to any meritorious defense at all. (R. pp. 82-83). DataQuick attempted to correct this error nine (9) months later by including the following sub-paragraphs in a supplemental affidavit by another DataQuick in-house counsel, Adam Fliss, Esq., who stated:

- a) DataQuick is not a party to the Agency Agreement and therefore cannot be liable to Plaintiff for any breach.
- b) DataQuick has placed Stewart Title (who assumed liability under the Agency Agreement with, upon information and belief, knowledge and consent of Plaintiff) on notice of a claim for indemnity and has a meritorious defense in that it would bring in Stewart Title as a Third Party Defendant under Rule 14 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.
- c) Upon information and belief, South Carolina has no personal jurisdiction over DataQuick with respect to the allegations and/or venue in South Carolina is improper.
- d) Upon information and belief, the Agency Agreement most likely includes exculpatory language that would limit the liability of the agent and/or limit any warranties of the agent.

(R. p. 126, ¶ 27.)

“The party seeking to set aside the judgment ‘has the burden of presenting evidence

proving the facts essential to entitle him to relief.” ITC Commercial Funding, LLC, 393 S.C. at 495, 713 S.E.2d at 339 (quoting McClurg, 380 S.C. at 575, 671 S.E.2d at 94.) Judge Manning gave proper weight to the conclusory, caveated statements of DataQuick’s attorney, which are not supported by any other evidence at all. Bowers v. Bowers, 304 S.C. 65, 67, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) (“The general rule is that no court has authority to open or vacate a judgment without some material evidence to support the claims on which the application for relief depends.”) (internal quotation omitted).

Specifically, DataQuick’s in-house counsel concludes that DataQuick “cannot be liable” to WFG for breaching the Agency Agreement because DataQuick is not a party to it; yet earlier in the same affidavit, he caveated this statement by saying that DataQuick was not a party “at the time the Complaint was filed” rather than when the claims actually arose; and he admitted that he did not even have possession of the Agency Agreement at issue. (R. pp. 124-125, ¶¶ 8, 10.) DataQuick’s counsel’s lack of knowledge about the Agency Agreement is most evident when he concludes that DataQuick possesses a meritorious defense because the Agency Agreement “most likely includes exculpatory language that would limit the liability” of DataQuick. DataQuick’s counsel’s assumptions about a contract he has not seen do not amount to material evidence.

Likewise, Judge Manning properly disregarded DataQuick’s counsel’s conclusion that DataQuick was not subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina or that venue was improper in Richland County upon some unevidenced “information and belief.” These arguments are not only unsupported by material evidence but are facially rebutted by the fact that DataQuick in fact purposefully availed itself of South Carolina law and obtained a certificate of authority to conduct business in South Carolina and maintained a principal office and registered agent in Richland County, South Carolina, where the lawsuit was filed. (R. p. 82, ¶ 5; R. p. 115); See Moosally v.

W.W. Norton & Co., 358 S.C. 320, 336, 594 S.E.2d 878, 887 (Ct. App. 2004) (“we perceive no unconstitutional unfairness in requiring [a foreign corporation] to litigate this matter in a forum where it has regularly directed its business.”) Additionally, the Complaint specifically detailed the fact that DataQuick consented to both venue and personal jurisdiction in Richland County in the Agency Agreement, and it alleged that the most substantial acts and omissions occurred in Richland County. DataQuick was required to present more than a one-sentence conclusion, caveated by the statement “upon information and belief,” that personal jurisdiction and venue were improper; DataQuick simply failed to do so.

Likewise, Judge Manning properly disregarded DataQuick’s counsel’s conclusion that its third-party contractual indemnity claim is not a meritorious defense. Whether DataQuick possessed a contractual indemnity claim against Stewart Title does not affect any claim or defense between WFG and DataQuick anymore than whether DataQuick has liability insurance coverage for WFG’s negligence claim. *See First Gen. Servs. of Charleston, Inc. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 442, 445 S.E.2d 446, 448 (1994) (“Indemnity is that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party.”) (internal quotation omitted). No binding authority known to WFG states that Judge Manning was required to consider DataQuick’s voluntary right to engage in third-party practice when deciding whether DataQuick was entitled to relief from the Judgment.

If DataQuick needed additional sources of evidence to make a prima facie showing of a meritorious defense, it had the right and the opportunity to conduct discovery in order to present evidence in support of its motion. *See, e.g. Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 299-300, 721 S.E.2d 430, 435 (2012). Over ten (10) months passed between the time DataQuick filed its motion for relief and the hearing on that motion. However, the record demonstrates that

DataQuick failed to attempt to conduct any actual discovery; DataQuick was as disengaged in presenting material evidence for a prima facie showing of its purported meritorious defense as it was in coordinating with its registered agents after March 2014 or following South Carolina's procedures for withdrawal. DataQuick's criticism of Judge Manning's failure to review a contract that DataQuick failed to provide to him highlights DataQuick's error in grasping the burden of its motion, not any abuse of discretion by Judge Manning. (DataQuick's Initial Brief p. 18.)

DataQuick's Initial Brief also hypothesizes that certain claims might have been time-barred, giving it another meritorious defense. (DataQuick's Initial Brief pp. 19-20.) It does not appear that this argument was raised to Judge Manning. Even if this argument was raised and ruled upon so as to be preserved for appellate review, the record is devoid of any material evidence that DataQuick presented Judge Manning that the claims at issue in the Complaint were time-barred.

b. DataQuick failed to establish a material defense to WFG's SCUPTA claim.

DataQuick also contends that Judge Manning failed to find that it possessed a meritorious defense to WFG's claim under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (the "Act"). The Act provides, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-5-20(a). The elements of a claim under the Act are: (1) the defendant engaged in an unfair or deceptive act in the conduct of trade or commerce; (2) the unfair or deceptive act affected public interest; and (3) the plaintiff suffered monetary or property loss as a result of the defendant's unfair or deceptive act(s). Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 23, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. App. 2006).

DataQuick's argument takes a selective and myopic view of the Complaint and improperly conflates WFG's allegations and causes of action into a mere breach of contract claim. The Complaint alleges that DataQuick, WFG's agent and underwriter, undertook duties to conduct a

number of insurance underwriting activities in a prudent, safe, sound and ethical manner and in accordance with recognized title underwriting principles. (R. pp. 25-29, ¶¶ 10, 11, 22, and 35). WFG alleges that DataQuick was willful and wanton in breaching these duties in a number of particular respects, and that DataQuick had failed to make payment for the damages arising out of its willful misconduct. (R. pp. 26-29, ¶¶ 12, 15, 16, 19, 23, 35, and 37). WFG alleges that DataQuick's acts and omissions affect the public interest both by affecting the public's access to title insurance and by being capable of repetition. (R. p. 29, ¶¶ 35, 37, and 38.)

DataQuick contends incorrectly that, because WFG's Complaint includes a contractual claim, the Act is not implicated by the Complaint. However, this argument begs the question of whether DataQuick has established it had a meritorious defense to WFG's claim under the Act on the grounds that the public interest is not affected by those allegations of the Complaint deemed admitted by WFG's default. "To be actionable under the [Act], an unfair or deceptive act or practice must have an impact upon the public interest." Wright, 372 S.C. at 29, 640 S.E.2d at 501. "An unfair or deceptive act or practice that affects only the parties to a trade or a commercial transaction is beyond the [A]ct's embrace" Noack Enters., Inc. v. Cty. Corner Interiors, Inc., 290 S.C. 475, 479, 351 S.E.2d 347, 349-50 (Ct. App. 1986). "An impact on the public interest may be shown if the acts or practices have the potential for repetition." Singleton v. Stokes Motors, Inc., 358 S.C. 369, 379, 595 S.E.2d 461, 466 (2004).

The potential for repetition may be stated in either of two ways: (1) by stating the same kind of actions occurred in the past, thus making it likely they will continue to occur absent deterrence; or (2) by stating that the company's procedures create a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts. Wright, 372 S.C. at 30, 640 S.E.2d at 502. WFG's Complaint does both. "These two ways are not the only means for showing the potential for repetition or public impact,

and each case must be evaluated on its own merits to determine what a plaintiff must show to satisfy the potential for repetition/public impact prong of the [Act].” *Id.* “Nevertheless, a plaintiff proves an adverse effect on public interests if he proves facts that demonstrate the potential for repetition.” *Id.*

WFG plead that DataQuick’s ongoing misconduct within the marketplace of insurance was ongoing and capable of repetition. Despite DataQuick’s contentions, WFG did not bear the burden of presenting evidence to support this allegation at the motion hearing; these allegations were deemed admitted due to DataQuick’s default. Rather, DataQuick had the burden to present material evidence to disprove these allegations to establish a meritorious defense. DataQuick failed to present any such evidence to Judge Manning.

DataQuick also contends that WFG’s allegations that DataQuick was mishandling underwriting, failing to pay claims for insurance, and undermining the market for title insurance in South Carolina does not give rise to any public interest concern. However, DataQuick ignores prior statements by our supreme court reaffirming the fact that the insurance industry is of strong public interest in South Carolina: “In this jurisdiction it has long been recognized that insurance is a business affected with a public interest.” Hinds v. United Ins. Co. of Am., 248 S.C. 285, 291, 149 S.E.2d 771, 774–75 (1966) (citing La Tourette v. McMaster, 104 S.C. 501, 89 S.E. 398, 399 (1916), *aff’d*, 248 U.S. 465 (1919) (stating “It is important for the protection of the interests of the people of the state that the business should be in the hands of competent and trustworthy persons.”)); *see also* Nichols v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 279 S.C. 336, 340, 306 S.E.2d 616, 619 (1983) (superseded on other grounds) (“The insurance business is affected with a public interest.”). Therefore, Judge Manning gave proper consideration to DataQuick’s impact as a harmful actor in the insurance market where DataQuick failed to present any contrary evidence.

Finally, DataQuick is simply incorrect that the Complaint did not allege willful conduct by it in violation of the Act. (R. pp. 26-29, ¶¶ 12, 15, 16, 19, 23, 35, and 37). These allegations were deemed admitted upon DataQuick's default. DataQuick had the duty to rebut these allegations by presenting evidence of a meritorious defense to WFG's allegations of willful conduct in violation of the Act. DataQuick failed to present any such evidence at all. Therefore, Judge Manning did not abuse his discretion in setting aside the award of treble damages.

3. Judge Manning did not abuse his discretion in awarding WFG's damages.

First, Judge Manning correctly concluded that the actual damages WFG presented were liquidated. "[W]hen a plaintiff makes a claim for liquidated damages, a sum certain, or a sum which can by computation be made certain, he may prove the amount of his damages simply by filing an affidavit of the amount due." Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Marion Amphitheatre, LLC, 408 S.C. 87, 90-91, 757 S.E.2d 557, 559 (Ct. App. 2014); *see also* Rule 55(b)(1), SCRCP. The actual damages were for a sum certain, namely, the specific forty-seven (47) accounts identified by WFG that included amounts already paid by WFG in the form of loss, expenses, charges, attorney's fees, and allocated loss adjustment expenses. WFG presented a sworn affidavit of account, signed by the National Claims Counsel for WFG, affirming his possession and review of the forty-seven (47) accounts and stating the sums certain paid to date by WFG at the time of his sworn affidavit. (R. p. 121-123).

DataQuick suggests that Mr. Dondanville, a lawyer, is incompetent to provide the affidavit testimony. Yet, our Supreme Court allows verifications of accounts to be signed by outside litigation counsel and to be based on that attorneys' review of the client's business records. BB&T of S.C. v. Fleming, 360 S.C. 341, 345, 601 S.E.2d 540, 542 (2004). Again, DataQuick had every opportunity to conduct discovery while its motion was pending to obtain evidence in support of its

motion to set aside its default and challenge the merits of the sum certain provided by Mr. Dondanville, yet the record is devoid of its seeking any evidence to rebut Mr. Dondanville's affidavit. Rule 55(b)(1), SCRCF specifically states that, "upon an affidavit of the amount due" on a sum certain, the court "shall enter judgment for that amount and costs against the party against whom judgment by default is sought." Therefore, Judge Manning did not abuse his discretion when entering the Judgment on the sum certain stated in the unrefuted affidavit of Mr. Dondanville.

Second, Judge Manning did not commit error in awarding reasonable attorneys' fees. DataQuick contends Judge Manning committed error by awarding \$4,000.00 in attorneys' fees on September 19, 2017, less than ten (10) days after receiving the Affidavit of Attorneys' fees dated September 15, 2017. However, this is a harmless error, as DataQuick nevertheless failed to object or seek relief within ten (10) days of receiving the Motion for Default Judgment and the Affidavit of Attorneys' Fees on September 18, 2017, as required by Rule 55(b)(3), SCRCF.